IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

 

__________________ 

  

CHARLESTON 

___________________ 

 

ALLIANCE COAL, LLC, 

 

  Petitioner, 

        Case No.:  

and        JCN:  2016011244 

        CCN:  WCTR20160711 

        DOI:  10-25-2015 

 

RICHARD E. HEATH, 

 

  Respondent. 

 

______________________________________ 

 

BRIEF OF PETITIONER 

ALLIANCE COAL, LLC 

______________________________________

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

  This workers’ compensation claim is in litigation pursuant to the Respondent’s 

protests to the claim administrator’s orders of (1) February 7, 2022, which denied an award of 

vocational rehabilitation benefits related to the claimant’s planned surgical procedure, (2) May 

13, 2022, which closed this claim for the payment of vocational rehabilitation benefits, and (3) 

August 18, 2022, granting the claimant rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits up to the 

52-week statutory maximum found at W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d).  By order dated June 29, 2023, 

the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review ordered that the claim administrator pay 

rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits in excess of the statutory maximum set forth at 

W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d). 

  The Petitioner asserts that the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review has 

exceeded its authority in order payment of rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits 

beyond the statutory maximum set forth at W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

  The claimant, Richard E. Heath, is a 51-year old underground coal miner.  He 

sustained a compensable crush injury to his left leg when a rail car pinned his leg against the 

mine wall on October 25, 2015.  The claimant underwent two surgical procedures to repair 

fractures in his left leg. 

  The claim administrator referred the claimant for an independent medical 

evaluation with Dr. Jeffrey N. Kann on July 26, 2016.  Dr. Kann is board-certified in orthopedic 

surgery.  Dr. Kann reviewed the claimant’s medical records, interviewed the claimant, and 

conducted a physical examination of the claimant.  At the time of this evaluation, Dr. Kann 

concluded that the claimant had not yet achieved maximum medical improvement with regard to 

the compensable injury.  Dr. Kann recommended additional diagnostic studies and therapeutic 

treatments that the claimant underwent through this claim. 

  Dr. Kann evaluated the claimant for a second time on December 15, 2016.  At the 

time of the second evaluation, Dr. Kann found that the claimant had achieved maximum medical 

improvement with regard to the injuries of the left leg. 

  Based upon the findings of Dr. Kann, the claim administrator closed this claim for 

the payment of temporary total disability benefits and processed an award for permanent partial 

disability benefits. 

  On March 23, 2017, the claimant underwent an independent medical evaluation 

with Dr. Bruce Guberman at the request of his legal counsel.  At the time of that evaluation, Dr. 

Guberman also concluded that the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement in 

regard to the October 25, 2015 injury. 

  On November 27, 2017, Dr. Christopher Martin evaluated the claimant at the 

request of the employer.  Dr. Martin is board-certified in occupational medicine.  Dr. Martin 

reviewed all medical records available from his treatment in the West Virginia University 

Medicine electronic health records system. In addition, he reviewed the medical evaluation 

reports of Dr. Kann and the report of Dr. Guberman.  Dr. Martin interviewed the claimant and 
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conducted a physical examination of the claimant.  Dr. Martin opined that the claimant had 

achieved maximum medical improvement with regard to the compensable injuries. 

  Following resolution of the claimant’s entitlement to temporary total disability 

benefits and permanent partial disability benefits, the claim administrator determined that the 

claimant would likely benefit from engagement in vocational rehabilitation services.  On 

November 8, 2018, the claimant underwent an initial vocational assessment with a rehabilitation 

counselor, Erin Saniga.  The claimant received information regarding the vocational 

rehabilitation hierarchy and acknowledged his understanding of the vocational rehabilitation 

process.  The vocational rehabilitation hierarchy plainly states that the seventh and final attempt 

at vocational rehabilitation is engagement in a formal retraining program.  As a result of this 

initial assessment, the claimant entered into an agreed-to vocational rehabilitation plan. 

  Thereafter, the claimant received authorization to undergo the trial implantation 

of a spinal cord stimulator.  This medical procedure initiated a process through which the 

claimant underwent a trial implantation of the device and, ultimately, the permanent implantation 

of the device.  On April 30, 2019, Ms. Saniga documented the claimant’s participation in the 

spinal cord stimulator procedure and noted that the vocational rehabilitation effort under this 

claim would need to be postponed while the claimant received this medical treatment. 

  Despite the claimant’s inability to engage in the vocational rehabilitation process, 

he repeatedly requested authorization of rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits through 

the summer of 2019.  On each occasion, the claim administrator denied the claimant’s request for 

rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits on the basis that the claimant was undergoing 

active medical treatment that precluded his participation in vocational rehabilitation and was not 

engaged in an agreed-to vocational rehabilitation plan. 

  Ms. Saniga met with the claimant again on September 18, 2019.  She noted that 

he had successfully undergone the implantation of a permanent spinal cord stimulator.  Ms. 

Saniga stated that vocational rehabilitation could proceed upon completion of a functional 

capacity evaluation.  That functional capacity evaluation was completed on September 30, 2019. 
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  The claimant again entered into an agreed-to vocational rehabilitation plan with 

Ms. Saniga on October 23, 2019.  The agreed-to vocational rehabilitation plan continued with 

regular meetings between Ms. Saniga and the claimant regarding his ongoing job search.  On 

January 20, 2020, Ms. Saniga met with the claimant and informed him that his vocational 

rehabilitation services would be approved for an additional 30 days, at which time they would 

end.  The vocational report generated from that meeting specifically stated that services would 

cease on February 19, 2020.  By order dated February 28, 2020, the claim administrator 

terminated vocational rehabilitation services. 

  By report dated March 17, 2020, Ms. Saniga noted that the claimant had 

undergone interviews for two jobs.  She advised that she would keep the claimant’s file open to 

follow up on the results of these interviews and for consideration of potential temporary partial 

rehabilitation benefits related to the potential jobs. 

  The claimant underwent yet another medical evaluation with Dr. Jennifer 

Lultschik on August 12, 2020.  Dr. Lultschik is board-certified in occupational medicine.  Dr. 

Lultschik reviewed the claimant’s records, interviewed the claimant, and conducted a physical 

examination of the claimant.  She found the claimant to have achieved maximum medical 

improvement with regard to the compensable injury. 

  On February 7, 2022, the claim administrator denied an award of vocational 

rehabilitation benefits related to a planned surgical procedure under this claim.  Then, on May 

13, 2022, the claim administrator closed this claim for the payment of vocational rehabilitation 

benefits in conjunction with a closure report from Ms. Saniga that noted that the claimant had 

accepted work as a FEMA inspector and had filed corporate organization forms with the State of 

West Virginia to establish a for-profit corporation in December 2021.  At no time during the 

claimant’s engagement with a vocational rehabilitation counselor did the claimant ever receive 

authorization to undergo a formal retraining program. 

  On July 13, 2022, the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review ruled that the 

claimant was entitled to rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits from February 19, 2020, 
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through March 16, 2021, less any benefits previously paid.  By order dated August 18, 2022, the 

claim administrator granted the claimant additional rehabilitation temporary total disability 

benefits up to the 52-week maximum allowed under W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d). 

  Dr. Lultschik again evaluated the claimant on October 11, 2022.  As a result of 

this evaluation, she maintained that the claimant remained at maximum medical improvement 

and concluded that the claimant had no additional whole person impairment beyond that which 

she had already recommended. 

  By order dated June 29, 2023, the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review 

ordered that the claimant be awarded rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits up to a 

maximum of 104 weeks.  This award exceeds the 52-week limit set at W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d).  

Under that statute, an award of 104 weeks of benefits is only permitted to claimants who are 

participating in an approved retraining program under Step Seven of the rehabilitation hierarchy.  

The claimant has never been approved to undergo such a retraining program, therefore, the 

award of 104 weeks of benefits is impermissible under W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d).  The Petitioner 

respectfully requests that the underlying order of the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review 

be reversed as it is a blatant violation of W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d). 
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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

  The Workers’ Compensation Board of Review has ordered the Petitioner to pay 

rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits in excess of the statutory maximum set forth at 

W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d).  The Respondent has been paid rehabilitation temporary total 

disability benefits up to the 52-week maximum set forth at W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d).  An 

additional 52-week is available to claimants who are enrolled in a formal retraining program 

(i.e., the seventh tier of the rehabilitation hierarchy).  The claimant has never been enrolled in a 

formal retraining program through his vocational rehabilitation services and is, therefore, not 

eligible to receive the additional 52-week period of rehabilitation temporary total disability 

benefits under W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d). 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

  The Petitioner, Alliance Coal, LLC, respectfully requests oral argument regarding 

the issues raised in this appeal. 
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ARGUMENT 

  The Workers’ Compensation Board of Review committed reversible error in the 

underlying decision.  Pursuant to W. VA. CODE § 23-5-12a(b), the Intermediate Court of Appeals 

must affirm the decision of the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review unless the Petitioner 

shows that the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review’s findings and conclusions are: 

 

(1) In violation of statutory provisions; or 

 

  (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the 

board of review; or 

 

(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or 

 

  (4) Affected by other error of law; or 

 

  (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and 

substantial evidence on the whole record; or 

 

  (6) Arbitrary capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion 

or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. 

 

The Workers’ Compensation Board of Review’s decision in the underlying protest violates 

statutory provisions, specifically W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d).  Accordingly, the underlying order 

must be reversed. 

  The underlying order of the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review provides 

that the claimant be awarded rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits in excess of the 

statutory limit.  It is the stated goal of the Workers’ Compensation Act to return injured workers 

to gainful employment.  See W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(a).  The accomplishment of vocational 

rehabilitation is a shared responsibility the employer, the employee, and the treating physician.  

Id.  W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d) permits the payment of rehabilitation temporary total disability 

benefits during the execution of a valid rehabilitation program for a period up to 52 weeks.  That 

period might be extended for an additional 52-week period if the claimant engages in an 
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approved re-training program.  Here, the claimant received the statutory maximum benefit of 52 

weeks, as plainly explained in the protested order.  The claimant never engaged in an approved 

re-training program.  The claimant achieved re-employment as a FEMA inspector and as a self-

employed entrepreneur without the need of a formal retraining program.  His entitlement to 

rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits, therefore, expired upon payment of the statutory 

maximum benefit of 52 weeks. 

The implementation and closure of the vocational rehabilitation plan is governed 

by W. VA. C.S.R. §§ 85-15-1 et seq.  Under these rules, a self-insured employer may—in its sole 

discretion—determine whether vocational rehabilitation services are appropriate for an injured 

worker.  W. VA. C.S.R. § 85-15-5.2.  The execution of an agreed-to plan clearly contemplates an 

ultimate end to such a plan.  The vocational rehabilitation counselor provided documentation of 

her regular meetings with the claimant regarding his progress as to the agreed-to vocational 

rehabilitation plan.  She clearly documented the goals of the plan, as well as its conclusion.  

Formal retraining was never provided pursuant to the agreed-to litigation plan.  As the claimant 

had achieved re-employment, formal retraining was never made part of the agreed-to 

rehabilitation plan. 

The claimant underwent an initial vocational rehabilitation assessment on 

November 8, 2018.  Subsequent to that assessment, the claimant received rehabilitation 

temporary total disability benefits up to the 52-week maximum permitted under W. VA. CODE § 

23-4-9(d).  At no time was the claimant ever authorized to enter a retraining program as part of 

his vocational rehabilitation plan.  Participation in a retraining program is a prerequisite for 

extension of rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits to 104 weeks under W. VA. CODE § 

23-4-9(d).  Retraining is Step Seven of the vocational rehabilitation hierarchy set forth in W. VA. 
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C.S.R. § 85-15-4.1. The claimant never received authorization to undergo retraining because he 

secured alternate employment before his vocational rehabilitation progressed to Step Seven 

retraining.  As the claimant never progressed to Step Seven retraining, he may not receive 104 

weeks of benefits under W. VA. CODE § 23-4-9(d). 

  In light of the governing statutes and relevant evidence, the claim administrator 

paid the claimant the statutory maximum rehabilitation temporary total disability benefit of 52 

weeks.  The claimant never engaged in a formal retraining program, therefore, he was not 

entitled to the 104-week benefit period.  The Workers’ Compensation Board of Review erred in 

ordering the claim administrator to pay the claimant an additional 52 weeks of rehabilitation 

temporary total disability benefits in violation of statute, and its underlying order should be 

reversed. 
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CONCLUSION 

   Based upon the foregoing, the Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court 

reverse the underlying order of the Workers’ Compensation Board of Review.