STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

ALLIANCE COAL, LLC

SELF-INSURED EMPLOYER

and

RICHARD E. HEATH,

CLAIMANT

JCN: 2016011244

ICA NO. 23-ICA-339

DOI: October 25, 2015

BOR: June 29, 2023

a. February 7, 2022

b. May 13, 2022

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF OF THE CLAIMANT,

RICHARD HEATH,

IN OPPOSITION TO EMPLOYER'S APPEAL

Counsel for Claimant: M. Jane Glauser, Esq. WVSB 1397 Schrader, Companion, Duff & Law, PLLC 401 Main Street Wheeling, WV 26003 Telephone: (304) 233-3390 FAX: (304) 233-3769 mjg@schraderlaw.com

December 27, 2023

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

VII. ARGUMENT:

A. <u>STANDARD OF REVIEW</u>:

The Claimant respectfully acknowledges the statutory guidelines in *W.Va. Code*, §23-5-12a. for appeals to the Intermediate Court of Appeals.

"When it appears from the proof upon which the Workmen's Compensation [Board of Review] acted that its finding was plainly wrong, an order reflecting that finding will be reversed and set aside by this Court." Syllabus point 5, *Bragg v. Comm'r*, 152 W. Va. 706, 166 S.E.2d

162 (1969). Syl. pt. 1, Bowers v. Comm'r, 224 W. Va. 398, 686 S.E.2d 49 (2009).

In Barnett v. State Workmen's Compensation Commissioner, 153 W.Va. 796, 812, 172

S.E.2d 698, 707 (1970), the Supreme Court explained: "[w]hile the findings of fact of the [BOR] are conclusive unless they are manifestly against the weight of the evidence, the legal conclusions of the [BOR], based upon such findings, are subject to review by the courts." The Court referred to *Emmel v. State Compen. Dir.*, 150 W.Va. 277, 284, 145 S.E.2d 29, 34 (1965).

B. DISCUSSION OF AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT:

The Employer identifies the issue at page 2 in the Table of Contents:

THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD OF REVIEW ERRED IN GRANTING REHABILITATION TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS IN EXCESS OF THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM SET FORTH AT W. VA. CODE §23-4-9(d).

The Claimant submits that the Employer's assignment of error is without merit for several reasons. The goal of rehabilitation is to return the injured worker to suitable gainful employment, which has not occurred herein, and all parties are charged with a "shared responsibility" for the

same. *WV Code*, 23-4-9. The Claimant has not been released to return to the same level of physical demand as the pre-injury employment. The Claimant has persistently pursued rehabilitation, both vocational and physical, in order to pursue employment opportunities, despite the repeated denials and hurdles imposed by the Employer.

The lower tribunals have previously considered several rehabilitation closures issued in the claim; has REVERSED vocational rehabilitation closures; and awarded rehab TTD benefits for the disputed time period of February 19, 2020 to March 16, 2021, less any payments during that disputed period. The Decisions, Exhibits 1 and 2, have been upheld on appeal when an appeal has been filed. These decisions have become final and cannot be set aside, modified or changed under *W. Va. Code*, 23-5-1a. Those Decisions include the following:

- (a). The Decision dated January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, by the Office of Judges, relevant but omitted from the Employer's Appendix, granted at page 1: "It is hereby ORDERED that the Claim Administrator's Order of February 28, 2020 be REVERSED, and vocational rehabilitation services reinstated. It is further ORDERED that the claimant's rehabilitation TTD benefits be reinstated and paid until such time as good cause exists for the termination of those benefits." Further, at page 11, the ALJ ORDERED "Accordingly, the Order of February 28, 2020 must be reversed, and vocational rehabilitation services reinstated. It is further ordered that the claimant's rehabilitation TTD benefits be reinstated and paid until such time as good cause exists for the termination of those benefits." Further, at page 11, the ALJ ORDERED "Accordingly, the Order of February 28, 2020 must be reversed, and vocational rehabilitation services reinstated. It is further ordered that the claimant's rehabilitation TTD benefits be reinstated from the date of last payment and continuing thereafter until such time as good cause exists for the termination of the benefits."
- (b). The Decision of January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, became final after the elapse of two years, and cannot be amended, corrected or set aside, revised, or otherwise modified, pursuant to *W.Va. Code*, 23-5-1a (e).
- (c) The employer did not file an appeal from the Decision dated July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2, highly relevant but omitted from the Employer's Appendix, which awarded benefits from February 19, 2020, to March 16, 2021. The Employer did not request a stay under §102-1-22. This Decision was acknowledged in the underlying protested order of August 18, 2022, E000053, with specific reference to the disputed time period of February 19, 2020, to March 16, 2021. Therein, at pages 10-11 of the Decision dated July 13, 2022:

Next is a review of the claimant's temporary total disability benefits for participation in a vocational rehabilitation program. An Administrative Law Judge reversed the claim administrator's order of February 28, 2020, and ordered that rehabilitation temporary total benefits be reinstated and paid until such time as good cause existed for termination of the same.1 Thereafter, the claim administrator granted the claimant benefits from February 8, 2021, to March 16, 2021. However, the period from the improper closure on February 28, 2020, until February 8, 2021, was not addressed. The Administrative Law Judge ordered that the claimant's rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits be reinstated from the date of last payment and continue thereafter until good cause to terminate is established. The record is devoid of evidence that this occurred. Therefore, the claim should not have been closed for rehabilitation temporary total disability and the claimant is entitled to benefits from the time his benefits ceased on February 19, 2020, to March 16, 2021, less any rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits the claimant was paid during this time period. The orders of February 5, 2021, and February 17, 2021, are reversed.

1. This Decision was affirmed by the Board of Review Order dated June 22, 2021

The Decision of January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, became final after two years, and cannot be amended, corrected, set aside, revised, or otherwise modified. *W.Va. Code*, 23-5-1a (e). The Decision of July 22, 2022, Exhibit 2, has also become final as any appellate action is now untimely. The Employer is barred by res judicata and collateral estoppel from re-litigating the same issue. *See*, Memorandum Decision in *Roupe v. McElroy*, No. 12-1204 (W.Va., April 24, 2014), wherein the Supreme Court found that res judicata and collateral estoppel applied in a compensation claim.

The Decision of July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2, the underlying basis for the protested order of August 18, 2022, E00053, under review herein, correctly observed at page 9, "However, the claim administrator did not address payment of benefits during the period between February 19, 2020, and February 15, 2021, as directed by the July 13, 2022, Board of Review order." The Decision of June 29, 2023, E00093 *sub judice*, simply enforces the prior final decisions, Exhibits 1 and 2, which are final on the entitlement to benefits from February 19, 2020 to March 16, 2021, less any payments during that period. On three occasions the judicial authorities have reviewed the evidence, awarded benefits, and granted relief to the Claimant.

W.Va. Code, 23-4-9 (d) provides for an "aggregate" award of benefits. As protested by the Claimant, the judicial decisions have set aside rehabilitation closures by the Employer as improperly entered. This procedural history substantiates the decisions of the lower tribunals awarding the retroactive benefits. The Supreme Court has held that statutory restrictions may be nullified and a claimant provided relief, if the claimant is denied benefits. See the following, *inter alia:*

 In Sheena H. for Russell H. v. Amfire, 235 W. Va. 132, 772 S.E.2d 317 (No. 13-0875, April 10, 2015), the Syllabus by the Supreme Court held in Points 4 and 5:

4. "A statute should be so read and applied as to make it accord with the spirit, purposes, and objects of the general system of law of which it is intended to form a part[.]" Syl. Pt. 5, in part, *State v. Snyder*, 64 W.Va. 659, 63 S.E. 385 (1908).

5. Where a claimant to dependent's death benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act delays filing a claim because the claimant was unaware, and could not have learned through reasonable diligence, that the decedent's cause of death was work related, and the delay was due to the medical examiner completing and making available an autopsy report, the six-month time limitation on filing a claim in West Virginia Code §23-4-15(a) [2010] is tolled until the claimant, through reasonable diligence, could have learned of the autopsy report finding that the decedent's death was, in any material degree, contributed to by an injury or disease that arose in the course of and resulting from the decedent's employment.

- (b). The Supreme Court in Gary Hammons v. v. WVOIC, 235 W.Va.577, 775 S.E. 2d 458 ((No. 12-1473, May 20, 2015), also refused to enforce the statutory time restrictions on reopening, in W.Va. Code, 23-4-16, because the claimant had been pursuing the statutory right to the addition of compensable diagnoses, and when successful, allowed the claim to be reopened. The Supreme Court held that the injured claimant was entitled to prompt benefits and the statutory right to pursue treatment and benefits through protest and appeal.
- (c) In Reed v. Excel Logistics, 815 S.E. 2d 511 (WV, No. 17-0864, 2018), the West Virginia Supreme Court considered the statutory overpayment provisions when TTD payments exceeded the statutory maximum of two years, when the claimant was not at fault. Further, the Supreme Court reasoned:

In the instant case, the claims examiner had complete control of the claim and of the payment of temporary total disability benefits. We do not know why the claims examiner did not seek to modify and terminate the claimant's benefits at the end of 104 weeks; perhaps it was carelessness, or perhaps it was an act of grace to assist the claimant. All we can say from this record is that the claimant relied to his detriment upon the claims examiner's actions, did not return to the work force, and continued to seek physical rehabilitation for his work-related injury. Because the claims examiner did not seek to modify and terminate the temporary total disability benefits at the end of 104 weeks, as required by the clear language of W.Va. Code § 23-4-1c(h), the claims examiner may not seek to recover as overpayments the 156 days of benefits paid beyond that deadline. [Emphasis added.] 815 S.E. 2d at 518.

During litigation on the protest to the order dated August 18, 2022, E00053, the Employer filed evidence, including information from the West Virginia Secretary of State's Business Organization Detail dated March 3, 2022, which was for a limited liability company, domestic and for profit, effective December 6, 2021, wherein the Claimant is listed as a member and the organizer. *See also* Exhibit 2, the BOR decision dated July 13, 2022, Finding 53, at page 8. The effective date of the limited liability company is December 6, 2021, outside of the disputed rehab TTD benefit period awarded from February 19, 2020 to March 16, 2021.

The claimant testified by deposition on October 4, 2022, Exhibit 8, in support of his claim. After the rehab TTD benefits were suspended, the claimant secured potential employment on an "as needed' basis as a FEMA inspector through an application filed during his rehabilitation plan in the fall of 2021 and thereafter assisting his wife with her business. *See also*, Claimant deposition, Exhibit 8, 10/4/2022, at 17-18 and at 22-23. The claimant was not receiving rehab TTD benefits during the unrelated time of these unsuccessful efforts at employment. See Exhibit 1, ALJ 01/13/2021, Findings 41, 42, and 43, pages 6-7. There is no evidence of any statutory substantial gainful participation in the daily operation of the limited liability company

or whether he was deriving income, wages, etc. from the FEMA certificate. The majority of the evidence on the issue was submitted by the Claimant testimony at his deposition on October 4, 2022, Exhibit 8, that he had not received any income from this business or from FEMA.

Although the ALJ had awarded rehab TTD effective February 19, 2020, until properly closed or terminated, in the Decision of January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, the Employer disregarded that determination and awarded only prospective rehab TTD under the protested orders of February 5, 2021 and February 17, 2021. The Decision of July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2, also REVERSED rehabilitation closures in February, 2021 and determined, for the third time, at page 1:

....The orders of February 5, 2021, and February 17, 2021, are REVERSED and the claimant GRANTED vocational rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits from February 19, 2020, to March 16, 2021, less any vocational rehabilitation temporary total disability benefits the claimant was paid during this time period. [Emphasis added.]

The Employer has continuously failed to follow the prior decision of January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, affirmed by the Board of Review on June 22, 2021, Exhibit 3. No further appeals were taken. That Decision became final and clearly stated at page 11:

Therefore, based upon the evidence of record, and for the reasons set forth above, it is found that the claimant has demonstrated by a preponderance of evidence that his vocational rehabilitation services were improperly closed on February 19, 2020. Accordingly, the Order of February 28, 2020 must be reversed, and vocational rehabilitation services reinstated. It is further ordered that the claimant's rehabilitation TTD benefits be reinstated from the date of last payment and continuing thereafter until such time as good cause exists for the termination of the benefits.

The Employer did not file an appeal from the Decision dated July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2,

awarding rehab benefits again. The Employer failed to pursue any argument that the statutory

limits on the payment of rehab TTD were applicable. The Employer also did not request a stay

under §102-1-22.1.

The Decision of July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2, and previously the Decision of January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, have become final on the issue of payment of the rehabilitation benefits for the judicially ordered period of time for rehab TTD from February 19, 2020 until March 16, 2021, less any payments for that period of time. Therefore, the Claimant protested the order dated August 18, 2022, E00053, limiting and restricting the award of rehab TTD benefits to three weeks, contrary to final judicial decisions.

The underlying claim history in these Decisions are relevant due to the delay and time consuming process of the litigation on diagnoses and treatment as well as the numerous interruptions of rehabilitation. As observed in the evidentiary record, the Claimant identified and submitted several Decisions by the Office of Judges in explanation of the efforts made by the Claimant to pursue rehabilitation. This supports the rationale of the judicial decisions granting the rehabilitation TTD for the full 1 year or 104 weeks of benefits.

Much as in the *Reed* case, *supra*, the Employer had complete control over the approval or denial of rehabilitation benefits until the judicial decisions were entered on January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1, and July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2. While the Employer may rely upon discretion over rehabilitation, that discretion is not absolute and must be viewed under the legislative policies, in *para materia*, supporting rehabilitation for the injured worker, especially when the Claimant has timely protested and presented evidence in support of the rehabilitation, for which judicial and appellate opinions have consistently granted the relief.

As discussed previously herein, the Decision dated July 13, 2022, Exhibit 2, by the Board of Review at pages 10-11, and not appealed by the Employer, reasoned that the claimant was entitled to the rehab benefits as ordered by the prior Decision of January 13, 2021, Exhibit 1.

As substantiated in the evidentiary record, and in the testimony at his deposition, Exhibit

8, the Claimant told providers and examiners repeatedly of his desire to return to employment.

The Supreme Court reasoned, in State ex rel McKenzie v. Smith, 212 W.Va. 288, 569 S.E.

2d 809, at 822 (202), as follows:

Additionally, we hold that when the Commissioner determines that a claimant is a candidate for rehabilitation services, *W.Va. Code*, 23-4-9 requires the Commissioner to develop and implement a plan for the claimant's rehabilitation services. The Commissioner must, with the assistance of the claimant's rehabilitation professional develop and monitor the rehabilitation plan, and the employer, the claimant, the claimant's physician and the Commissioner must cooperate in the development of the rehabilitation plan.

Further, the Court in State ex rel McKenzie v. Smith, 212 W.Va. 288, 569 S.E. 2d 809, at

826 concluded--- without the label of "discretionary:"

The Commissioner has a clear legal duty to develop and implement rehabilitation plans for eligible claimants, in cooperation with the employer, the claimant, and the claimant's physician, and with the assistance and monitoring of the claimant by a rehabilitation professional. The petitioner, and claimants similarly situated, have a right to initially choose their provider of rehabilitation services, free from the constraints of any contracts by employers for those services. The petitioner's right to relief from the existing regulations and policies of the Commissioner is clear, and we discern no other remedy other than granting the requested relief. [Emphasis added.]

The legislative policy for the consideration of rehabilitation is prompt services and "early

identification" of candidates for rehabilitation in order to reduce hardship for injured workers and with the goal to return the injured worker to suitable gainful employment. *W.Va. Code*, 23-4-9. Despite this goal, the Employer interrupted the rehabilitation efforts of the Claimant, who was without fault and which closures were corrected by the judicial and appellate system. Case law allows the rehabilitation benefits to be paid in accordance with the goal. The evidentiary record herein clearly granted these prior awards of rehabilitation benefits, set forth in a judicially determined period of February 19, 2020 until March 21, 2021, less any prior payments. The decision of the Board of Review on June 29, 2023, E00093, is not based upon a material

misstatement or mischaracterization of the evidentiary record and is consistent with prior determinations in the claim, as well as collateral estoppel and res judicata principles.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>:

The claimant requests that the Intermediate Court of Appeals AFFIRM the Decision of June 29, 2023, REVERSING the order dated August 18, 2022; that the ICA AFFIRM the continued award of TTD benefits from February 19, 2020 until March 16, 2021, less any prior payments made for that period of time; and for such further relief as may seem just and proper.

Richard Heath, Claimant

Of counsel for claimant